R

### JUN 2 0 2016

#### NO. 34189-5

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### RICARDO G. GARCIA and LUZ C. GARCIA, husband and wife

Appellants/Plaintiffs

v.

TED HENLEY and AUDEAN HENLEY, individually and the marital community of them composed,

Respondents/Defendants

#### **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

LINDA A. SELLERS, WSBA#18369 Attorneys for Appellants Halverson | Northwest Law Group P.C. P.O. Box 22550 Yakima, WA 98907 509.248.6030

## **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

To protect their established property rights, Appellants Ricardo and Luz Garcia ("Garcias) filed a complaint for ejectment and damages after their neighbors Ted and Audean Henley (the "Respondents" or "Defendants") repeatedly moved the fence between their adjoining properties, each time moving the fence further onto the Garcias' property. When the Defendants moved the fence in 1997, the Garcias verbally protested to the Defendants but the Defendants failed to move the fence back. In 2011, as the Defendants began moving the fence again, the Garcias' verbally protested and put up apple bins to stop the encroachment. The Defendants persisted in their activity despite the Garcias' efforts to warn them that the fence was on the Garcias' land. The Garcias' hired a surveyor and obtained a survey. The survey demonstrated that the fence had migrated 2.5 to 3 feet from the property line onto the Garcias' land.

Following a bench trial, the court found that the Defendants' fence encroached upon the Garcias' property. Instead of granting the Garcias an injunction requiring the Defendants to remove their fence, the Court allowed the Defendants to keep their fence in place and in return ordered Defendants to pay the Garcias a nominal payment. The trial court stated that the case of *Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010) allowed the court to apply unnamed "equitable principles" and award the Defendants a portion of the Garcias' land. As part of a court's duty to do fairness to the parties, *Proctor v. Huntington* held that a trial court asked to eject an encroacher must "reason through" the five-factor test established by *Arnold v. Melani*. The encroacher must prove the five elements by clear and convincing evidence. The court may exercise discretion to award damages in lieu of injunctive relief if the encroacher establishes the five elements.

The trial court failed to reason through the *Arnold* five element test. The trial court's failure to enter any findings of fact on the five elements demonstrates the trial court's failure to apply the *Arnold* test. The trial court abused its discretion when it gave a portion of the Garcias' land to the Defendants without any written or oral findings of just and compelling reasons to override the Garcias' property rights.

The Court should reverse the Judgment and Decree and remand the case to the trial court with instructions to grant an injunction requiring removal of the fence.

#### II. APPELLANTS' ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. <u>Assignment of Error No. 1</u>. The trial court erred in entering the January 19, 2016 Judgment and Decree which awarded the Defendants a portion of the Garcias' land, denied the Garcias request for an injunction requiring the Defendants to move their fence off the Garcias' land and instead awarded the Garcias nominal monetary damages.

B. <u>Assignment of Error No. 2</u>. The trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 6:

2

Although Plaintiffs typically would be entitled to an injunction, the Washington Supreme Court in *Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010) recognized in certain adverse possession cases that equitable principles may dictate a different result as to an appropriate remedy. The court concludes that this case does warrant application of such equitable principles, and thus the court concludes that the fence between the Plaintiffs' and Defendants' properties should remain in its current location, and that title to the Plaintiffs' property that is subject to ejectment should be granted to the Defendants.

C. <u>Assignment of Error No. 3</u>. The trial court erred in entering

Conclusion of Law 8:

The Defendants are granted the following described property:

That portion of lot 16, block 2, of amended plat of taft's addition to Tieton, Washington, according to the official plat thereof, recorded in Volume "G" of plats, page 36, records of Yakima County, Washington, described as follows:

Beginning at the northeast corner of said lot, then north 89° 17' 00" west 115.00 feet to the northwest corner, then south 0° 43' 00" west 3.00 feet to a fence as is existed on June 2, 2011, then south 89° 32' 00' east, along said fence, 115.00 feet to the east boundary said lot, then north 0° 43' 00" east 2.50 feet to the point of beginning.

Situated in Yakima County, Washington.

D. <u>Assignment of Error No. 4</u>. The trial court erred in entering

Conclusion of Law 10:

Any additional relief requested by the parties not specifically addressed in these Findings and Conclusions or the accompanying Judgment and Decree, concerning the allegations in Plaintiffs' Complaint, Defendants' Answer and Counterclaim, and Plaintiffs' answer thereto, is denied.

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

3.1 Whether the Judgment and Decree denying injunctive relief to remove an encroaching fence and transferring ownership of the Garcias' land to the Defendants must be reversed and remanded where the trial court failed to follow the precedent of *Proctor v. Huntington* which requires the trial court to reason through the five *Arnold v. Melani* elements before granting or denying a request to eject a trespasser? (Assignments of Error No. 1 and No. 2).

3.2 Must the trial court's conclusions of law finding that equitable grounds exist to award the Defendants' the Garcias' land and deny injunctive relief moving the Defendants' fence be reversed where the trial court failed to enter <u>any</u> findings on the five elements of the *Arnold* test and the record lacks clear and convincing evidence to support such findings? (Assignments of Error No. 1 and No. 2).

3.3 Whether the trial court's Judgment and Decree should be remanded to the trial court with instructions to enter an amended Judgment and Decree to require the Defendants to obtain and pay for the following:

a. survey to prepare a legal description of the property awarded to the Defendants that is described in metes and bounds and not with any reference to the current fence which could be moved again in the future; and

b. a boundary line adjustment to reflect the new boundary line created by the trial court's ruling so that that the Defendants will pay all future

4

costs including future taxes and assessments as the new owners of the real estate in question? (Assignments of Error No. 3 and No. 4).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Statement of Facts.

In 1991, Ricardo and Luz Garcia purchased their home in Tieton, Washington and continue to live there today. (CP 72, 95). Ted and Audean Henley have owned the adjacent property directly to the north of the Garcias since 1985 (CP 72, 94-95). For illustrative purposes, an aerial photo of the two homes showing their relative locations is attached as Appendix 1. (See, also, CP 20).

When the Garcias bought their home in 1991, there was an existing white picket fence between their property and the Henleys' property (CP 72, 95, RP 124-125). The Defendants rebuilt the fence at least twice during the 1990s including after damage by water flooding. Each time the Defendants rebuilt the fence they moved the fence further onto the Garcias' property. (CP 27, 72, 95). The first change to the fence occurred in 1994 when the Henleys moved the fence a small amount closer to the Garcias' property when making fence repairs. (RP 12, 35). A more significant change occurred in 1997.

In 1997, the Garcias took an extended trip away from home. When they returned, they discovered that the Defendants had moved the fence further onto the Garcias' property. (CP 27, 72, 95). The fence had been moved a foot onto the Garcias' land. (RP 13). The Garcias verbally protested to the Henleys. The Henleys did not move the fence or take other action to determine the property

5

line. (CP 27, 72). When Mr. Garcia tried to talk to Mr. Henley, Mr. Henley "...would always get mad and say bad words to me." (RP 13). Rather than calmly discuss the issue, Mr. Henley became angry and used obscenities. (RP 132).

In 2011, the Henleys started rebuilding the fence again, moving in sections from west to east along the fence line. (CP 66). As before, they placed the new fence further onto the Garcias' property than the fence they were removing. The Garcias placed apple bins against the existing fence on the eastern end of the old fence to prevent the Henleys from moving additional sections of fence toward the Garcias' home. Mr. Henley admitted at trial that the bins were placed against the old fence. (RP 108, lines 22-23). The Henleys continued to replace the fence but angled the remainder of the new fence back toward the previous fence line where the apple bins were protecting against further movement onto the Garcias' property. (CP 72-73, 95). Mr. Garcia tried again to talk to Mr. and Mrs. Henley about the fence location and his intent to obtain a survey. Mr. Garcia testified that Mrs. Henley made very clear her intention to keep her fence on the Garcias' property when she stated, "I won't move not even if I pay \$10,000." (RP 132 and 133).

After the 2011 fence move, Mrs. Garcia could no longer maintain her garden as she had previously because the space was significantly reduced. (RP 39). Prior to 2011, Mrs. Garcia had been able to plant corn, mint and zucchini. (RP 39). As Mrs. Garcia testified, "...everything that I used to plant no longer fits there and all three times they replaced their fence it just keep getting closer and closer." (RP 40).

After the fence was rebuilt in 2011, a survey was completed showing that the Defendants' fence intruded upon the Garcias' property by between three feet, at the west end, and two and one-half feet, at the east end (CP 73, 96 and Ex. 3 from Plaintiffs' Exhibit Notebook Tab 1.1). The fence encroaching on their property restricted areas of their property that had been devoted to the vegetable garden and their son's small pond. (RP 47-49). The Garcias requested that the Henleys remove their fence from the Garcias' property but the Henleys refused (CP 10). Ultimately, the parties were unable to settle their differences regarding the fence and the property line. (CP 73, 96).

#### B. <u>Procedural History</u>.

Mr. and Mrs. Garcia sued the Henleys on May 17, 2012. (CP 3). They sought to quiet title and for ejectment and injunctive relief seeking to regain possession of the property taken by the successive fence encroachments. (CP 3-6). The Henleys counter-claimed to quiet title in their name to all the disputed property. (CP10).

Following a bench trial, on January 20, 2016, the trial court entered its Judgment and Decree based on Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law filed that same day. (CP 71-81, CP 94-104). The trial court concluded that the Henleys had adversely possessed the Garcias' property through the creeping movement of the fence in the 1990s. The court quieted title in the Defendants to two and one-half feet along the border between their properties. (CP 68, 97). That left at issue the property taken when Defendants moved the fence in 2011. The trial court found that the 2011 fence migration was an encroachment on the Garcias' property, concluding that the Garcias had successfully established the elements of an ejectment claim for the Defendants' movement of the fence in 2011. (CP 74, 97).

Instead of applying the typical remedy of an injunction requiring that the fence be moved, however, the trial court granted title to Defendants citing *Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 238 P3d 1117 (2010) (CP 74-75, 97-98). The court did not review any briefing on the doctrine laid out in *Proctor*. During closing arguments, the Defendants' attorney stated that he believed an equitable doctrine applied to this case although he admitted he had not done any briefing on the issue. (RP 146).

The Garcias' attorney explained that *Proctor* required findings of fact, established by clear and convincing evidence that certain elements are met. The first requirement is that the encroacher had not acted in bad faith or at least indifferently as to the boundary line and another is that it would be an enormous hardship to remove the encroachment. (RP 149-150). Despite the lack of evidence on those elements and the other elements, and the lack of any briefing, the trial court ruled that *Proctor* applied. (CP 28).

The Garcias filed a Motion for Reconsideration on January 29, 2016, asking the trial court to reconsider its decision because the evidence presented at trial did not show that the five elements were met by clear and convincing proof and due to that failure, the court had not applied the elements. The evidence presented and reasonable inferences therefrom negated the presence of the required elements. (CP 82-89). The Garcias' Motion for Reconsideration was denied without explanation on February 11, 2016 (CP 90). The Garcias filed their Notice of Appeal on March 15, 2016 (CP 91-92).

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. <u>Standard Of Review</u>.

The primary issue facing this Court is whether the remedy ordered by the trial court should be affirmed regarding the property taken by the 2011 fence encroachment onto the Garcias' property. There are two parts to this issue. First, did the trial court engage in a proper analysis to conclude that *Arnold v*. *Melani* 75 Wn. 2d 143, 449 P. 2d 800 (as modified on rehearing January 9, 1969) and *Proctor v. Huntington*, supra, apply to the facts in this case to override the traditional property-rights remedy of ejectment?

Second, assuming *arguendo* that the trial court had conducted a thorough analysis, does the record support a conclusion that all five requirements are met sufficiently to overcome the traditional right of a property owner to protect his property from encroachers. Here, the trial court failed to engage in the required analysis, and, even if such analysis had been completed, the findings of fact and evidence in the record fail to support a exception to the rules of Washington property law that uphold a property owner's right to title.

A trial court's denial of an equitable remedy is normally reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Cogdell v. 1999 O'Ravez Family, LLC*, 153 Wn. App. 384, 390, 220 P.3d 1259 (2009) (citing *Willener v. Sweeting*, 107 Wn.2d 388, 397, 730 P.2d 45 (1986)). Accordingly, the court's decision is reviewed "to determine whether the remedy is based upon tenable grounds or tenable reasons." *Cogdell v. 1999 O'Ravez Family, LLC.* 153 Wn.App. 384, 391, 220 P.3d 1259 (2009).

In the case at bar, the trial court failed to elucidate <u>any</u> grounds for denial of injunctive relief. Specifically, the trial court failed to apply the five *Arnold* elements. Failure to apply the correct legal standard is an error of law and the standard of review of review is de novo. *Womble v. Local Union 73, Int'l Bhd. of Elec. Workers*, 64 Wn.App. 698, 700, 826 P.2d 224, review denied, 119 Wn.2d 1018, 838 P.2d 691 (1992). See, also, *Buck Mountain Owner's Ass'n v. Prestwich* 174 Wn.App. 702, 714, 308 P.3d 644 (2013) (holding that whether an equitable obligation exists to contribute to costs reasonably incurred for repair and maintenance of a road easement used in common is a question of law)

Furthermore, the encroacher (the Defendants) must prove the five *Arnold* elements by clear and convincing evidence. *Arnold*, 75 Wn.2d at 152.

When findings of fact and conclusions of law are entered following a bench trial, the appellate court must determine whether the findings are supported by substantial evidence and, if so, whether the findings support the trial court's conclusions of law and judgment. *Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie*, 111 Wn.App. 209, 214, 43 P.3d 1277 (2002). The trial court's findings of fact do not support conclusions of law No. 6 and No. 8.

Assuming arguendo that the trial court made "implicit" findings on the five *Arnold* elements, the appellate court must find whether substantial evidence would support such findings. Because *Arnold* requires clear and convincing proof, the evidence must be more substantial than in the ordinary civil case in which proof need only be by a preponderance of the evidence. On review the appellate court requires "highly probable" substantial evidence. *In re Marriage of Schweitzer*, 132 Wn.2d 318, 329, 937 P.2d 1062 (1997) (quoting *In re Pet. of LaBelle*, 107 Wn.2d 196, 209, 728 P.2d 138 (1986)).

#### B. <u>The Trial Court Erred When It Failed To Conduct The Five-Part</u> <u>Analysis That Must Be Completed Before Taking Away A Private</u> <u>Landowner's Land And Giving The Land To Another Private</u> <u>Landowner</u>.

The traditional and primary remedy for encroachment when one party builds a structure on another's land, which is a form of trespass, is for the court to eject the trespasser and require him to remove the encroaching structures. *Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 502, 504, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010), cert. denied, 131 S. Ct. 1700 (2011). If required to avoid an oppressive result, an exception may be made to the right of a property owner to protect title to his property. *Proctor*, supra, citing *Arnold v. Melani*, 75 Wn.2d 143, 449 P.2d 800 (1968). If the exception applies, the trespasser may be awarded the encroached upon land and pay damages to the injured landowner for the fair market value of the land. *Proctor* at 504.

Denying the rights of private property occurs only in an "exceptional case". *Arnold*, 75 Wn. 2d at 152. Before a court may exercise its equity power

to transcend the application of property rules, a high standard must be met. The

Washington Supreme Court has framed this standard in a five-part test:

[A] mandatory injunction can be withheld as oppressive when, as here, it appears . . . that: (1) The encroacher did not simply take a calculated risk, act in bad faith, or negligently, willfully or indifferently locate the encroaching structure; (2) the damage to the landowner was slight and the benefit of removal equally small; (3) there was ample remaining room for a structure suitable for the area and no real limitation on the property's future use; (4) it is impractical to move the structure as built; and (5) there is an enormous disparity in resulting hardships.

*Proctor* at 500, citing *Arnold v. Melani*, 75 Wn.2d 143, 152, 449 P.2d 800 (1968).

To ensure that exceptions to established property rights are granted only in worthy cases, the Washington Supreme Court made clear that a court must, when asked to eject an encroacher, "reason through the *Arnold* elements as part of its duty to achieve fairness between the parties." *Id.* at 503.

Here, the trial court found that the Garcias had established that they are entitled to an ejectment for the property taken by Defendants when the Defendants moved the fence line further onto the Garcias' property in 2011 (CP 74, 97). Mentioning *Proctor*, the trial court then jumped directly to the conclusion that equitable principles in this case dictate erasure of the property owners' title to their land:

Although Plaintiffs typically would be entitled to an injunction, the Washington Supreme Court in *Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010) recognized in certain adverse possession cases that equitable principles may dictate a different result as to an appropriate remedy. The court concludes that this case does warrant application of such equitable principles, and thus the court concludes that the fence between the Plaintiffs' and Defendants' properties should remain in its current location, and that title to the Plaintiffs' property that is subject to ejectment should be granted to the Defendants.

(CP 74-75, 97-98, 28.)

The Garcias' Motion for Reconsideration asked the trial court to address each of the *Arnold* elements. Without explanation, the trial court denied the Motion. (CP 105).

*Arnold* stressed that the trial court must act in a meaningful manner and not "blindly" when it is asked to invoke its equitable powers. *Arnold v. Melani*, at 152. The trial court's failure to conduct a thorough examination of the facts under the standards set forth by the Washington Supreme Court are directly contrary to the mandates of *Proctor* and *Arnold* and constitutes an error of law.

#### C. <u>Even If The Five Arnold Elements Had Been Considered, The</u> <u>Record Provides No Support For Finding That Any, Much Less All,</u> <u>Of Those Five Elements Have Been Satisfied By Clear And</u> <u>Convincing Evidence</u>.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that the trial court silently gave due consideration to each of the five *Arnold* elements and found them to be met, those unexpressed findings are unsupported by the record. Indeed, the facts of this case as reflected in the record and the trial court's Findings of Fact themselves demonstrate that the *Arnold* elements remain unmet.

The threshold inquiry is whether it is necessary to take a private landowner's property to avoid an oppressive result. That threshold is met if the encroacher proves each of the five required elements by clear and convincing evidence. *Arnold*, 75 Wn.2d at 152. The facts of this case fail to meet that

threshold for any of the five elements. In truth, the evidence presented to the trial court negates the presence of the *Arnold* elements. There is simply no evidence suggesting that respecting the Garcias' property rights and requiring the Defendants to move their fence leads to an oppressive result.

The encroachment in *Proctor* was based upon a good faith, mutual mistake between the parties. Relying on an incorrect representation from a surveyor, the Huntingtons and *Proctor* had a mutual, mistaken belief as to the boundaries of the northwest corner of the Huntington's property. *Proctor*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 494. The mistake was due to a surveyor's pin that the parties believed represented the northwest property corner, but actually did not. *Id.* In 1995, the parties met at the property and Robert Huntingon pointed out the surveyor's pin and identified it as the northwest corner of the Huntington pointed out the identification. *Id.* The Huntingtons later built their house, garage and well in the area that they believed was their property based on this exchange between the parties in 1995. *Id.* 

In 2004, *Proctor* surveyed his property out of concern over a potential encroachment from a different neighbor. That survey revealed that the Huntington's house, well, garage and yard were located entirely upon *Proctor*'s property. *Id.* at 495. After this surprising discovery, the parties attempted to work out a settlement, but negotiations failed and *Proctor* sued to eject the Huntingtons from his land. *Id.* The trial court found that the Huntingtons were encroaching upon *Proctor's* property. The trial court further found that the Huntingtons acted in good faith, that the value of the land upon which the Huntingtons' home was built was \$25,000 and that moving the house elsewhere would cause considerable emotional hardship and cost at least \$300,000, and that moving their home would be oppressive and inequitable. The trial court allowed an exception to traditional property rules and granted title to the Huntingtons in exchange for payment for the value of the land. *Id*. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

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