SEP 12 2016

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

	No. 34189-5
	COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON
RICAR	DO G. GARCIA and LUZ C. GARCIA, husband and wife,
	Appellants/Plaintiffs
	Appellants/Plaintiffs v.

Respondents/Defendants

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Submitted by:

James K. Adams, WSBA#7809 Wagner, Luloff & Adams, P.L.L.C. 2010 W. Nob Hill Blvd., Suite 2 Yakima, Washington (509) 248-5010

Attorney for Respondents

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

A trial court's denial of an equitable remedy is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Cogdell v. 1999 O'Ravez Family, LLC,* 153 Wn. App. 384, 390, 220 P.3d 1259 (2009) *(citing Willener v. Sweeting,* 107 Wn.2d 388, 397, 730 P.2d 45 (1986)). Accordingly, the court's decision is reviewed "to determine whether the remedy is based upon tenable grounds or tenable reasons." *Cogdell v. 1999 O'Ravez Family, LLC.* 153 Wn. App. 384, 391, 220 P.3d 1259 (2009).

The issue before this Court is whether the trial court's decision to deny injunctive relief in favor of the remedy and result allowed by *Proctor* is based on "tenable grounds or tenable reasons." In other words, can the trial court's decision and remedy be defended with the evidence before the Court and applying the law.

Appellants suggest that the Court's review is <u>de novo</u>, citing <u>Worble v Local Union</u> 73, Int'l Bld. Of Elec Workers, 64 Wn.App 698, 826 P.2d 224 review denied 119 Wn2d 1018, 838 P.2d 691 (1992)

Appellants assert that the trial court failed to apply the correct legal standard.

The issue here is not whether the trial court failed to apply the correct legal standard, but whether the decision of the trial court, applying the legal standard set forth in *Proctor* is tenable under the evidence. In other words, did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying injunctive relief and concluding that the evidence clearly and convincingly proved the elements of *Proctor*.

B. The Trial Court's Analysis

The Appellants correctly state the analysis the trial court was required to conduct. The traditional primary remedy for encroachment when one party builds a structure on another's land is for the court to eject the encroacher and require him to remove the encroaching structures. *Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 502, 504, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010), cert. denied, 131 S. Ct. 1700 (2011). If required to avoid an oppressive result, an exception may be made to the right of a property owner to protect title to his property. *Proctor*, supra, citing *Arnold v. Melani*, 75 Wn.2d 143, 449 P.2d 800 (1968). If the exception applies, the trespasser may be awarded the encroached upon land and pay damages to the injured landowner for the fair market value of the land. *Proctor* at 504.

Denying the rights of private property occurs only in an "exceptional case". *Arnold* 75 Wn.2d at 152. Before a court may exercise its equity power to transcend the application of property rules, a high standard must be met. The Washington Supreme Court has framed this standard in a five-part test:

[A] mandatory injunction can be withheld as oppressive when, as here, it appears. . . that: (1) The encroacher did not simply take a calculated risk, act in bad faith, or negligently, willfully or indifferently locate the encroaching structure; (2) the damage to the landowner was slight and the benefit of removal equally small; (3) there was ample remaining room for a structure suitable for the area and no real limitation on the property's future use; (4) it is impractical to move the structure as built; and (5) there is an enormous disparity in resulting hardships.

Proctor at 500, citing Arnold v. Melani, 75, Wn.2d 143, 152, 449 P.2d 800 (1968).

To ensure that exceptions to established property rights are granted only in worthy cases, the Washington Supreme Court made clear that a court must, when asked to eject an encroacher, "reason through the *Arnold* elements as part of its duty to achieve fairness between the parties." *Id.* At 503.

The purpose of the test was explained in *Arnold v. Melani* 75 Wn.2d 143, 449 P.2d 800 (1968).

Ordinarily, even though it is extraordinary relief, a

mandatory injunction will issue to complete the removal of an encroaching structure. However, it is not to be issued as a matter of course. We do not deny that a 'sacred" right exists in a free society as to the protection fo the concept of private property; www simply hold that when an equitable power of the court is invoked, to enforce a right, the court must grant equity in a meaningful manner, not blindly. "There is no question but that equity has a right to step in and prevent the enforcement of a legal right to step in and prevent the enforcement of a legal right whenever such an enforcement would be inequitable. "Thisius v. Dealander, 26 Wash.2d 810, 818, 175 P.2d 619, 623 (1946). If this is so, then equity has the right to deny the extraordinary remedy of mandatory injunction. However, in that the relief granted by the denial of the injunction affected by the owner's possessory rights, as do laches and estoppel, and is exceptional relief for the exceptional case, we further require (as was present in this case) that the evidence of the elements listed above be clearly and convincingly proven by the encroacher.

75 Wn.2d at p. 152

The Court examined all evidence including significant testimony by the parties and photographic evidence and concluded that despite the encroach of 6 inches for 67 feet (33.5 square feet), .61 percent (.61%) of the total areal of Plaintiffs' property the remedy should not be injunctive relief.

Although Plaintiffs typically would be entitled to an injunction, the Washington Supreme Court in *Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010) recognized in certain adverse possession cases that equitable principles may dictate a different result as to an appropriate remedy. The court concludes that this case does warrant application of such equitable principles, and thus the court concludes that the fence between the Plaintiffs' and Defendants' properties should remain in its current location,

and that title to the Plaintiffs' property that is subject to ejectment should be granted to the Defendants.

CP 74-75

C. The Henleys presented clear and convincing evidence justifying the conclusions of the court

1. Preface

In their argument that the trial court failed to analyze the case in accordance with the test and principles of *Proctor v. Huntington*, the Appellants rely heavily on actions and results in which took place and occurred in 1997 and before. The purpose, of course, it to influence the evaluation of the evidence in this Court, which evidence was not considered by the trial court in its ultimate ruling denying injunctive relief and awarding the disputed property to the Henleys. The trial court ruled that any claim for encroachment which occurred more than ten years prior to the filing of this case was precluded by the statute of limitation. The trial court's inquiry, therefore, concerned only the actions that took place in 2011.

2. The encroachment by the Henleys in 2011 was inadvertent and accidental.

It is clear that the encroachment that resulted from rebuilding the fence was inadvertent and accidental. There was never any intention to encroach upon the Appellants' property beyond the line of the fence that

was being replaced. Mr. and Mrs. Henley both testified that they believed that the new fence was in the same location as the old fence. RP 79-80, 113. Mr. and Mrs. Henley both testified that, as each section of the fence was replaced, the fence posts were placed in either the same holes as the previous fence posts or next to the holes of the previous fence posts. RP 79-80, 100, 113. They were not attempting to take property that didn't belong to them. RP 105.

Although the Appellants requested a survey, it was not accomplished until after the new fence was constructed. CP73. In addition, the Henleys believed that they were constructing the new fence in line with the old fence which defined the property lines between the parties property. A survey would not have changed that boundary.

The Henleys did not take a calculated risk. They believed sincerely that they were building the new fence on the location of the old fence. Neither were they negligently, willfully or indifferently constructing the new fence. They were taking great pains to not encroach upon the property of the Appellants. The <u>de minimus</u> extent of the resulting encroachment is clear and convincing evidence that they encroachment in 2011 was inadvertent and accidental.

3. There was clear and convincing evidence to demonstrate that the damage to the appellants was small and benefit of removal equally small.

Appellants either misunderstand or misrepresent the trial court's finding on this issue. The Appellants state that the encroachment as a result of the rebuilding of the fence is 2.5 to 3.0 feet the length of the property. This is wrong. CP 73.

The Court found that the encroachment resulting from the rebuilding of the fence in 2011 was only six inches and ran 67 feet. CP 73.

The total area of Appellants' property lost to the 2011 encroachment was only .61 percent (.61%) of the total area of the lot. There was no demonstrable loss to the use of the property and no demonstrable benefit to the property of restoring the property lost by the encroachment.

All activities that took place prior to the 2011 encroachment could take place after the encroachment. The claims of an inability to maintain a garden as a result of the encroachment is simply not credible. The loss of 6 inches of garden is simply not fatal to the garden.

The loss to the Appellants was small. Likewise the benefit of restoring the property lost to the encroachment is small.

4. There was clear and convincing evidence that there is ample room for a structure suitable for the area and no real limitation on the property's future use.

The property of Appellants is occupied by a house and a substantial outbuilding. They were relatively close to the north boundary line of the Appellants' property before the 6 inch encroachment of 2011. The loss of property as a result of the 2011 encroachment is 33.5 feet or .61 percent (.61%) of the total property of the Appellants. The use and future use of the Appellants' property has not been impacted except in an infinitesimal near immeasurable way. The use and future use of the property is what is and will be. The trial court had clear and convincing evidence before it that there remained ample room for the structures and there was no real limitations on the future use of Appellants' property.

5. <u>It is not practical to move the fence built in 2011.</u>

Impractical is defined as "not adapted to use or action, not sensible . . ." Concise Oxford English Dictionary, Eleventh Edition, 2004. Notes on the usage of impractical are, "Although similar in meaning, *impracticable* and *impractical* are not used in exactly the same way. *Impracticable* means 'impossible to carry out', as in the proposals would be impracticable for most small companies, whereas *impractical* tends to be used to mean 'not sensible', as in impractical high heels." <u>Id.</u> Clearly, moving the fence built in 2011 is impractical. Simply put, moving the fence built in 2011 is not sensible.

The fence took weeks to build and it could not be built without

trespass. The Henleys took great pains to avoid trespass. RP 100, 105.

Moreover, the land recovered by removing the fence would be incredibly small and is not necessary to make practical use of the Appellants' property. The land recovered would be a mere 6 inches over 67 feet and would be virtually of no practical use by the Appellants.

There was sufficient, clear and convincing evidence that it was not sensible to take down and rebuild the fence.

6. There was clear and convincing evidence of enormous disparities in resulting hardships.

The Henleys did not intend to encroach upon the Appellants' property. They took great pains to avoid encroachment. They used slow and painstaking efforts to avoid encroachment. Unfortunately, the fence built in 2011 encroached on a portion of the Appellants' property by a mere six inches.

The Appellants demonstrated no hardship resulting from the 2011 fence. Appellants merely presented alleged hardships as a result of the 1997 fence.

The encroachment of the 2011 fence by 6 inches for 67 feet prevents no activity on the Appellants' property. There is no demonstratable hardship.

In contrast, removal and rebuilding the fence would result in

significant hardship to the Henleys. This is especially true of the need to remove the fence and painstakingly rebuild the fence without trespassing on Appellants' property.

While the Henleys may have been aware of Garcias' complaints, they, in good faith, were attempting to avoid encroachment. They believed they had avoided encroachment.

7. A boundary line adjustment is not required.

The Appellants requested that the trial court require the Henleys to obtain and pay for a formal boundary line adjustment with Yakima County. The Appellants cited Yakima County Code 19.34.020.

The Yakima County Code is not applicable here. The property is within the City of Tieton, Washington, which has its own provisions for boundary line adjustments. See City of Tieton, code of Ordinances 16.04.070. CP 72 The merger of a portion of the Appellants' property with the Henley's property is an exemption to the subdivision rules of the City of Tieton.

8. There is not need for a new survey.

The Appellants are unhappy with the legal description utilized by the trial court describing the boundary line between the Garcia and Henley properties. They demand different legal description and that the Henleys pay for it. The legal description utilized by the trial court was prepared by

a Professional Land Surveyor who had been retained by the Appellants.

CP 18. The Appellants cite no authority or reasons for rejecting the legal

description proposed by a Professional Land Surveyor.

CONCLUSION

There was clear and convincing evidence to support the Court's

conclusion that it should deny injunctive relief and quiet title to the 6

inch encroachment in the Henleys. The trial court did not abuse its

discretion in concluding the relief it granted pursuant to Proctor v.

Huntington. The loss of less than one percent (1%) of fully developed

and fully usable property warranted the trial court's decision.